KADAMOVAS v. CARAWAY et al Doc. 100

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
TERRE HAUTE DIVISION
JURIJUS KADAMOVAS,
Plaintiff,
V. No.2:17-cv-00050-WTL-MJD

JOHN CARAWAY, et al.

N N N N N N N

Defendants. )

)

Order Granting Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment
And Directing Entry of Final Judgment

Plaintiff Jurijus Kadamovas is a federal inmate currently incarcerated in the Special
Confinement Unit (SCU) of the Terre Haute U.SniRmtiary (USP-TH) in Terre Haute, Indiana.
On February 1, 2017, Mr. Kadamovas filed thisacagain various USP-TH employees alleging
that the defendants were deliaely indifference to his serious medical needs of asthma and
breathing problems under the Eighth Amendmektr. Kadamovas alleges he is exposed to
second-hand smoke and chemical fumes, whidakie exacerbates his asthma, and the defendants
have not sufficiently protected him from expasuo the smoke and fumes. Mr. Kadamovas’
action is brought pursuant tee theory recognized Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Aged3
U.S. 388 (1971).

On March 3, 2017, counsel was reted to represent the plaintiff. The Court screened
his complaint on March 9, 2017, and allowed hghith Amendment claims against John Caraway,

Former Warden; Charles A. Daniels; Wardéficheal L. Stephens, Former Unit Manager;

! The Court is grateful to Oni N. Harton, Laddmene Mendoza, and Joli Maley of Barnes &
Thornburg LLP for accepting the Court’s request sistance and their diligent efforts on behalf
of Mr. Kadamovas.
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Melissa Bayless, Former Unit Mager; Micheal V. Sample, Unit Manager; Sara M. Revell,
Regional Director; Dr. William E. Wilson, Clinic@lirector; and Andrew William Rupska, Health
Services Administitar, to proceed. SeeDkt. No. 8. The remaing claims and defendants
identified in the complaint were dismisse@n August 31, 2017, the parties stipulated to the
dismissal without prejudice of the claimsobght against defendants Micheal Stephens, Sara
Revell, and Andrew Rupska. Ti@ourt granted the stipulationd dismissal and dismissed the
claims against those defendan&eeDkt. No. 51.

On November 13, 2017, Mr. Kadamovas filedamended complaint, asserting Eighth
Amendment claims against John Caraway, Former Warden; Charles A. Daniels, Former Warden;
Melissa Bayless, Former Unit Manager; Maeh V. Sample, Unit Manager; Dr. William E.
Wilson, Clinical Director; and Jeffrey Krueger, Warden. Dkt. No. 59.

Presently pending before th@@t is the defendants’ motion for summary judgment. For
the reasons explained below, the mofimnsummary judgment, Dkt. No. 92,dsanted.

l. Summary Judgment Legal Standard

A motion for summary judgmeiisks the Court to find thattrial is unnecessary because
there is no genuine dispute asatoy material fact and, insteadetimovant is entitled to judgment
as a matter of lawSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). On summang@ment, a party must show the Court
what evidence it has that would convince a tieiact to accept its version of the even@ekas
v. Vasilades814 F.3d 890, 896 (7th Cir. 2016). The nmgvparty is entitled to summary judgment
if no reasonable fact+ider could return a verdict for the non-moving paiiglson v. Miller 570
F.3d 868, 875 (7th Cir. 2009Y.0 survive a motion for summary judgment, the non-moving party
must set forth specific, admissible evidence shgwinat there is a material issue for tri@elotex

Corp. v. Catrett477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The Court views the record in the light most favorable



to the non-moving party and draws all reasdmaiferences in that party’s favogkiba v. lllinois
Cent. R.R. Cp884 F.3d 708, 717 (7th Cir. 2018). It canm@igh evidence or make credibility
determinations on summary judgment because those tasks are left to the factMiikbery.
Gonzalez 761 F.3d 822, 827 (7th Cir. 2014). The Caweéd only consider the cited materials,
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3), and the Seventh Cir€@ourt of Appeals hasepeatedly assured the
district courts that they are not required to tacevery inch of the record” for evidence that is
potentially relevant to the summarydgment motion before thenGrant v. Trustees of Indiana
University,870 F.3d 562, 573-74 (7th Cir. 2017). Any doubt as to the existence of a genuine issue
for trial is resolved agjnst the moving partyPonsetti v. GE Pension Pla614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th
Cir. 2010).

A dispute about a material fact is genuineydiifi the evidence isuch that a reasonable
jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving partyAhderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inat77 U.S.
242, 248 (1986). If no reasonable jury coulddfifor the non-moving party, then there is no
“genuine” dispute.Scott v. Harrig 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007). Lodaule 56-1(e) requires that
facts asserted in a brief must be supportedihaititation to a discovemgsponse, a deposition,
an affidavit, or other admissible evidencdd. In addition, the Court will assume that the facts
as claimed and supported by admissible evidbgdbe movant are admitted without controversy
unless “the non-movant specificakpntroverts the facts in that ppgs ‘Statement of Material
Facts in Dispute’ with admissible evidence” ‘dris shown that the movant's facts are not
supported by admissible evidence.” Local Rulelf§®- The Court “hasio duty to search or
consider any part of the record not specificaltgd in the manner described in subdivision (e).”
Local Rule 56-1(h)see Kaszuk v. Bakery and Confectionery Union and Indus. Intner. Pension

Fund 791 F.2d 548, 558 (7th Cir. 1986) (“The court has no obligation to comb the record for



evidence contradicting thmovant’s affidavits.”);Carson v. E.On Climate & Renewables, N.A
154 F. Supp.3d 763, 764 (S.D. Ind. 2015) (“The Cogires Carson the benefit of the doubt
regarding any disputed facts, however, it will komb the record to identify facts that might
support his assertions.”).
Il. Factual Background

The following statement of facts was evaldapairsuant to the standbset forth above.
That is, this statement of facts not necessarily objectivelyu&, but as the summary judgment
standard requires, the undisputizatts and the disputed evidenare presented in the light
reasonably most favorable to Mr. Kadamovathason-moving party with respect to the motion
for summary judgment.See Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products,380.U.S. 133, 150
(2000).

A. Mr. Kadamovas’ Complaints Regarding Exposure to Smoke and Chemical
Spray

Mr. Kadamovas is a federal inmate incarcatatethe SCU at USP-TH. The SCU is the
only “death row” in the federal prison systeikt. No. 92-2, 1 8. Although Mr. Kadamovas has
not been evaluated with wheeziogother physical examinatiomfilings consistent with asthma,
Mr. Kadamovas has been diagnosed with mildsigeent asthma and $ideen prescribed an
Albuterol inhaler and other bronchodilatorSeeDkt. No. 92-3; Dkt. No. 92-4. He also sees an

outside pulmonologist each year. tDMo. 92-4 at 5, 8. For the past several years, Mr. Kadamovas

has complained that he has trouble breathing whenever smoke or chemical gas comes into the SCU

through the heating and cooling vents from thectg Housing Unit (“*SHU”), which is located

directly below the SCU.



1. Use of OC Spray in the SHU

In his complaint, Mr. Kadamovas asserts thatis exposed to oleoresin capsicum (OC)
spray fumes when USP-TH staff deploy the sprathe SHU. Mr. Kadamovas does not claim
that USP-TH staff members have use€ spray on him. Dkt. No. 921at 16-17, 26.
Additionally, Mr. Kadamova recalls that OC spray has oridgen used twice in the outdoor
recreation area of the SCU abouteirand-a-half or four years ago but has not been used in the
SCU since that timeld. at 17-18.

Rather, Mr. Kadamovas believes that OC spvag used in the SHU approximately thirty
times since 2013, including seven times in 2017 and as recently as January 2% 2&118-21.
Although Mr. Kadamovas cannot smell the gas, lys $aat the gas spreads to the SCU and he
just begins choking when he fedhe particles the air. Id. at 25. Generally, when OC spray is
used in the SHU, and USP-TH staff can deterrt ihe SCU, Mr. Kadamovas testified that SCU
staff will remove him from his cell and take him to the outdoor recreation ateat 20, 21, 62.

Mr. Kadamovas asserts that whemis exposed to OC spray, iseunable to breathe as if
someone is choking him from inside, and he starts crying, sneezing, and voraitiag20.

2. Exposure to Smoke from the SHU

Mr. Kadamovas also alleges that he is egpd® smoke when inmates in the SHU smoke
tobacco and other contrabrand, illegalok food on an open fire, or set firelsl. at 30-33, 39.

Mr. Kadamovas asserts that the smoke from Hild Bavels to the SCU through the air vents. Mr.

2 Oleoresin capsicum spray or “OC” is a naturally occurring substance found in the resin of a
variety of peppersSeewww.ncjrs.gov/pdffilesl/nij/grant (Nenal Institute of Justice, U.S.
Department of Justice, Office of Justice Peogs, March 1994). OC spray is also known as

pepper spray.

3 References to Dkt. No. 92-1 refer te ttleposition page and not the exhibit page.



Kadamovas acknowledges that inmates in the S@idre he is housed, do not start fires or smoke
in their cells. Id. His claims about smoke, as with the @@&ay, relate solely to inmates in the
SHU, who he believes either smoke or creats fingheir cells approximately 15-20 times out of
each month.Id. at 32-33. In his complaint, Mr. Kaaeovas referenced “known firestarters” in
the SHU, but in his deposition could not identify any inmates who he believes are “known
firestarters.”ld. at 42. Mr. Kadamovas recalls thas@U inmate “Sanchez” was caught passing
coffee and soups to SHU inmates through theilagion system, and Sanchez was disciplined
when he was caughid. at 46. For the last two and a haifthree years, Kadamovas has been
housed on the upper range of the SAW. at 12-13. His Unit Manager at the time, Micheal
Sample, moved him to the upper range in an eftoaddress Mr. Kadaovas’ complaints about
exposure to smoke and OC sprag. at 13.

Mr. Kadamovas alleges that he is unablebteathe when he smells smoke and he
experiences “psychological anguish, vomiting, diarrhea, headacheofferath, high blood
pressure, accelerated heartbeat, significant respiratory stress, wheezing, pain in lungs, and
excessive sweating” due to his expodorgas and smoke. Dkt. No. 96-1 at 5.

B. Mr. Kadamovas’ Medical Treatment

Mr. Kadamovas claims that he developed asthma after he was arrested and incarcerated in the
Metropolitan Detention Center kos Angeles. Dkt. No. 92-at 9. When Mr. Kadamovas was
received into the custody of the Federal Buref Prisons (BOP) in March 2002, his intake
medical forms show that he dedihaving asthma or shortnesagath. Dkt. No. 92-4 at 1.

On July 25, 2013, Mr. Kadamovas was seeringusick call regarding complaints of
breathing problems.ld. at 2. However, his lungs were clear, his vitals were normal, and he
appeared alert and well with no acute distredenetheless, the practitioner prescribed him an

Albuterol inhaler. Id.



In 2014, Mr. Kadamovas was seen nine timesniylical staff for ld§ complaints about
trouble breathingld. at 2-3. Each time he was evaluated,\hials were normal, his lungs were
clear, and he was in no acute distrdss. During these visits, MKadamovas did not exhibit any
chest crackling or wheezindd. In May 2014, his medical praler recommended trying Singular,
Zantac, and Loratidineld. at 2. In November 2014, Dr. Wila and the medical staff requested
a consult with an outside pulmonologist, bug thitilization Review Committee (URC) did not
grant the requestd. at 3.

In 2015, Mr. Kadamovas was seen three timembylical staff for cmplaints of trouble
breathing. Id. at 4-5. Again, when evaluated by medistaff, his vitals were normal, he was in
no apparent distress, ands lrespiration was normalld. In October 2015, Mr. Kadamovas
requested a CT scan of hisesl, but due to a recent umrarkable chest x-ray (CXR3geDkt.

No. 92-6 at 13, medical stafibted that a CT scan was not clinically indicat&kt. No. 92-4 at

4. Nevertheless, in December 2015, Mr. Kadamaeaeived a CT scan, and his lungs showed
no evidence of local infiltrate or pleural effusibrid. at 5. Nevertheless, the USP-TH medical
staff placed a note in Mr. Kadamovas’ medical file to restrict the use of chemical gas on Mr.
Kadamovas. Dkt. No. 29-6 at 40.

In 2016, Mr. Kadamovas was seen five times bylioa staff for shortness of breath. Dkt.
No. 29-4 at 5-7. On January 28, 2016, Mr. Kadaas did not complain or show signs of
respiratory distress, but again requested a pulmonary coitudt. 5. The practitioner explained

that his request had been submitted and rejected by the WR@n February 12 and 22, 2016,

4 Pleural effusion is the build-up of excess fluid on the lungs.
https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/17373-pleural-effusion-causeigsss. Local infiltrate is a
substance denser than air, such as puss, Wopdotein, which lingersvithin the parenchyma
of the lungs. https://www.nclilm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3218724.



Mr. Kadamovas was seen by a registered nurssofoplaints of shortness of breath, but his lungs
were clear and his vitals were normdl. Mr. Kadamovas was then seen by Dr. Wilson on
February 25, 2016, for his complaints of shortness of braéathDr. Wilson found his lungs clear
and questioned whether Mr. Kadamoweass malingering for secondary gaitd. Dr. Wilson
determined that a pulmonary consult was adiesdo determine through differential diagnosis
whether Mr. Kadamovas had the symptoms he descriloed.

On May 6, 2016, Mr. Kadamovas was seemibyutside pulmonologist, Dr. Bhuptarhdl.
Mr. Kadamovas reported shortness of breath ayidrtess in his chest when exposed to smoke or
a strong smell.ld. at 6. Dr. Bhuptani performed a munary function test, which showed no
obstruction, lack of brommdilator response, no restibn and no air trappindd. Dr. Bhuptani’s
treatment recommendation was to stop Symbicortalae alleged allergieaction and prescribe
Proventil HFA aerosol (2 puffs inhaled 4 timéaily), continue Singulair and Albuterol, and
follow-up in six months. Id. Dr. Bhuptani also recommerdig¢hat medical staff “consider

bronchodilators” “[i]f asthma islinically suspected.d.

On June 26, 2016, Mr. Kadamovas was evalubyed registered nurse for complaints of
shortness of breathld. at 6. The nurse found him in no apga distress with no significant
findings. When the nurse arrived, Mr. Kadamowas upright and ambulatowith a steady gait,
clear and concise speechgdano labored breathing.

On January 19, 2017, Dr. Wilson conducted awiurcare evaluation of Mr. Kadamovas.
Id. at 7. Mr. Kadamovas complained that a sewage back-up affected his brelthing.Wilson

noted that Mr. Kadamovas had been seen byrmagnologist and diagnosed with mild persistent

asthma, and his chest x-ray was negatvithin the past three yearsl. Mr. Kadamovas also told



Dr. Wilson that he develops daycardia, an abnormally rapideart rate, when he uses the
Albuterol inhaler.

On February 11, 2017, Mr. Kadamovas was @atald by a registered nurse to follow up
on his complaints that smoke svenaking him short of breathd. at 7. When she arrived at his
cell, the nurse observed that hesvgdtting in his cell writing. Hisespiration was easy and he had
no cough. However, Mr. Kadamovas appeared to become anxious and upset when he discussed
his breathing and smoke/fires. He also claimed of a headache. The on-call provider was
notified, and a new order of @lidine 0.1mg was receivedd.

Mr. Kadamovas complained to medical staff about smoke again on June 3 ]@0H(73.

He complained to a registered nurse thatythee smoking something and its raised my blood
pressure.” When the nurse ardvat his cell, he was in no apparelistress and was speaking in
full sentences. His respirations were easg amgs were clear, buiis blood pressure was
elevated. Mr. Kadamovas was givan Albuterol nebulizer and la@peared less anxious and his
blood pressure dropped. He repdrte felt better and was ready to go back to his cell.

Mr. Kadamovas was seen for a follow-ugitzby outside pulmonologi Dr. Bhuptani on
July 10, 2017.1d. at 8. Mr. Kadamovas complained tlajposure to presgeispray “spread on
others” bothered his asthmaDr. Bhuptani continued ProventiAtrovent, and mometasone,
recommended that Mr. Kadamovas avoid exposuf@Gaspray as possible, and directed him to
come back in one year for a follow-up appointment. Dkt. No. 92-8 at 37-38.

In November 2017, Dr. Wilson saw Mr. Kadamewar his chronic care visit. Dkt. No.
92-4 at 8. Dr. Wilson found Mr. Kadamovas in mparent distress and Hisngs were clearld.

Dr. Wilson spoke with Executive Stabout trying to ensure thatleaust fans are used in the SHU

before pepper gas is administeréd.



C. Expert Opinion of Dr. John Buckley

Dr. John Buckley is a Medical @tor who also has a MastersRablic Health. Dkt. No.
92-11. He is a practicing pulmoregjist who is Board-certified iRulmonary Medicine, Internal
Medicine, and Critical Care Medicineld. He is currently the Vice Chair for Education,
Department of Medicineat the Indiana Universit$chool of Medicine.ld. Dr. Buckley is also a
Service Line Co-Leader in Pulmonary/Critical G&teep Medicine at Indiana University Health
Physicians.Id.

Dr. Buckley was retained by the defendants to review Mr. Kadamovas’ complaints and the
BOP’s medical care of his asthraad breathing problems. Basedhimreview of the record, Dr.
Buckley determined that, he believes that Kadamovas’ breathing wasitated by smoke based
on Mr. Kadamovas’ consistent complaints over an extended period of time. Dkt. No. 92-10.
According to Dr. Buckley, Mr. Kadamovas’ medl examinations did not reveal wheezing or
other physical symptoms consistent with asthiareover, Mr. Kadamovas’ pulmonary function
test was not consistent with asthma. Nevertslelr. Kadamovas has been treated with “optimal
medical theory” for asthma through inhaled brongladors and inhaled cadosteriods, which Dr.
Buckley opined as “medically appropriaed within the standard of care.”

D. Security Precautions in the USP-TH SHU to Prevent Fires

The SHU custodial staff at USP-TH have taken multiple steps to ensure inmate and staff
safety and to prevent SHU inmates from setting fir@se generallypkt. No. 92-12. SHU staff
have removed all unnecessary paper and flammable items from the inmateddcélls. Staff
have also removed batteries and other itemswihimates can use to ignite any paper which may
still be in their cells.While it is impossible to remove all itenthat may be used to start a fire

from the inmates, all available precautions haaenaken to reduce the oo@nce of this hazard.

10



For example, correctional staff frequently perform cell searches or shakedowns in an effort to
locate contraband items, including items that mayde to start a fireCorrectional staff also
perform routine pat-down searches of inmatedetermine whether they possess contraband.

SHU inmates also have limits on the comnmgsems they are permitted to purchase and
maintain as compared to inmates in the gdrmpulation of the Fedal Correctional Compleéx
(FCC-TH) at Terre Hauteld. T 7. These limits have been imposed as a deterrent on inmate
“stores” and to help eliminate excess propégms and nuisance contraband in housing units.

When an inmate does set a fire, the firexsinguished as quicklgs possible and the
inmate is disciplined.Id. 1 3, 8. If any residual smoke comes up into the SCU, the affected
inmates are removed from their cells andnéfcessary, evaluated by medical stalffl. § 3.
Moreover, the air handlers are resed to remove smoke from the SHU and the SCU, and the air
removal only takes a few minutekl. § 4;see alsad. at 4 (March 27, 2017, response to Attempt
at Informal Resolution) (confirming that SHUdsnducting shakedowna@confiscating batteries
and SHU inmates will not be permitted to possess batteries).

E. Defendants

1. Former Warden John Caraway, Former Warden Charles Daniels, Warden
Jeffrey Krueger

John Caraway was the Complex WardeR@C-TH from August 26, 2012, until January
10, 2015.SeeDkt. No. 92-13. He has not worked at FCC-TH since January 2015, nor has he had

any decision-making authority over FCC-Tdthce January 2015. Charles Daniels was the

® The Federal Correctional Complex at Terrautéa(FCC-TH) is comprised of USP-TH, a high
security U.S. penitentiaryhitps://www.bop.gov/locations/institutions/thpFederal Correctional
Institute  Terre Haute, a medium satu federal correctional institution
(https://www.bop.gov/locations/institutions/tha/and Federal Prison Camp Terre Haute, a
minimum security satellite campml().
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Complex Warden at FCC-Terre Haute fronbkmary 22, 2015, until his retirement on December
31, 2016.SeeDkt. No. 92-14. Since March 2017, Jeffrey Krueger has been the Complex Warden
at FCC-Terre HauteSeeDkt. No. 92-2.

As Complex Wardens at the FCC-TH, Wardearaway, Daniels,ral Krueger delegated
the day-to-day tasks related to safety and security of inmates to his staff. The day-to-day
operations in the SHU were run by a Captain, vaported to an Associate Warden. The Captain
oversaw the Lieutenants and Correctional Officers, who were responsible for safety and security
within the SHU, including moving the inmates, searghthe cells and “policing” type activities.
During their respective time as Warden, Warsl Caraway, Danielgnd Krueger conducted
rounds in the Institution, during with they talked to inmates and staff about any issues in the
units. Wardens Caraway, Daniels, and Krueger were aware that their correctional staff would
regularly conduct cell searcheshéke-downs” of housing cells, and pat searches of inmates to
ensure that the inmates did nowvéaontraband, including contratththat may be used to start
fires. Wardens Caraway, Daniets)d Krueger were also awalrat inmates who were found to
have violated the prison’s code of conduct (including the possession obeomttiar starting fires)
would be written an Incident Report and agpiate disciplinary stepwould be taken.

Wardens Caraway, Daniels, aitleger were not involved in the decision by the BOP to
place Mr. Kadamovas in the SCU at USP-TH. B is the only “death row” in the federal
prison systeni. Accordingly, for security purposes, there are no windows in the SCU that open

and close.

® Mr. Kadamovas is a death row inmate because berving a death sentence for four counts of
conspiracy to take hostages resultingéath, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1208ee United States
v. Mikhel, et al.No. 2:02-cr-00220-DT-2 (©. Cal.), Dkt. No. 1641.

12



1. Former Warden John Caraway

In February 2014, Warden Caraway respahtle a grievance from Mr. Kadamovas
alleging that SHU inmates were burning things @irtbells. Dkt. No. 92-1at 5. Former Warden
Caraway confirmed that anytime a staff membeeoled a SHU inmate starg a fire or heating
up a food item, the inmate received an Incident Report for violating Code 103, Setting a Fire. In
October 2014, former Warden Caraway also redpd to an email from Mr. Kadamovas regarding
smoke, gas, and dust travelingaihgh the air vent systenid. at 6. Warden Caraway confirmed
that the air filters were changed approximately every 6-8 weeks, more frequently than required by
the minimum standards of twelve weeks.

2. Former Warden Charles Daniels

In May 2015, and January 2016, Warden Danmetponded to letters from the Lithuanian
Embassy written on behalf of Mr. Kadamovaganeling second-hand exposure to gas and smoke
from the SHU. Dkt. No. 92-14 at 5,7. Wardemi&és confirmed that he had reviewed the matter
and the Facilities Department wetsanging the air filters approximétesvery four to six weeks,
even though the minimum standdad air filter replacement is @ve weeks. Warden Daniels
also confirmed based on medical records thakddamovas was not shavg signs of respiratory
distress and received a clear chest x‘ray.

Warden Daniels responded in January 201@ fetter from Mr. Kadamovas’ attorney
addressing concerns about Mr. Kadamovas’ exposure to OC slatagt 6. In the response,
Warden Daniels noted that every effort waslento limit and mitigate Mr. Kadamovas’ exposure

to OC spray when it was used in the SHU, thatvents between the SHU and SCU are closed off

" The defendants also refer to October 5, 20048 January 15, 2016, emails from Warden Daniels
to Mr. KadamovasseeDkt. No. 93 at 12-13, but no such emails were submitted to the Court.
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when OC spray is used, and thia¢ air filters in those units @rchanged more frequently than
recommended to reduce amgsidual contamination.
3. Warden Jeffrey Krueger

Warden Krueger is aware of steps that $teff have taken to limit any exposure Mr.
Kadamovas may have to smoke or gas coming from the Sk#gDkt. No. 92-2. These steps
include moving Mr. Kadamovas to an upper-tiet;@tempting to remove Mr. Kadamovas from
his cell when OC spray fumes were detecteden3@U; shutting off or kersing vent flow when
OC spray is used in the SHU; and changing thélegrs between the twanits more frequently
than is required by the minimum standards.

In April 2017, Warden Krueger responded tetéer from the Lithuaian Embassy written
on behalf of Mr. Kadamovas regarding second-rexmbsure to smoke from the SHU. Dkt. No.
92-2 at 5. Warden Krueger comfied that he had reviewed theatter and explained that while
every effort is made to limit and mitigate ina&dtent inmate exposure to smoke and OC spray
when it is used for security reasons, it is impassio ensure no otherrmate or staff would be
tangentially affected. He alsxplained the vents between thélBand SCU would be closed off
to limit the air moving between the two units and thatair filters were changed more frequently
than recommended. Finally, Warden Kruegenfcmed that he reviewed Mr. Kadamovas’
medical record, which indicatdte was last seen on February 11, 2017, for complaint of smoke
that made him short of breath, but that the stafinot note any visible spke or smell any smoke
and no chemical agents had been used recently.

Warden Krueger cannot move Mr. Kadamovaartother housing unit bause of his death
row designation, and cannot moMe. Kadamovas to a cell wittvindows that open and close

because no such cells exist in the STl q 8.

14



2. Former Unit Managers Melissa Bayless and Micheal Sample

Melissa Bayless served as the SCU Wdtnager at FCC-TH from December 16, 2012,
until October 11, 2014. Dkt. No. 92-15. As SCUitiManager, Ms. Bayless had no day-to-day
control over the security of or custodial carethe inmates housed in the SHU, and had no
decision-making authority over thed8. She did not have the abilitg restrict or control the
contraband in the SHU, the frequency with whites occurred in th&€HU, nor the frequency
with which OC spray was deployed.

Micheal Sample served as the SCUitUdanager at FCC-TH from December 2014,
through December 2015. As SCU Unit Manager, 8%&mple had no day-to-day control over the
security of or custodial care of the inmatesused in the SHU, and had no decision-making
authority over the SHU. He did not have the &biio restrict or control the contraband in the
SHU, the frequency with which fires occurredhe SHU, nor the frequency with which OC spray
was deployed. Mr. Sample alsad no decision-making authoritygarding the decision to place
Mr. Kadamovas in the SCU of USP-TH. Whigin. Kadamovas complained about exposure to
smoke and gas, Mr. Sample moved him to the uppe of the SCU in an effort to reduce the
potential exposure.

Mr. Sample allegedly pulled MKadamovas “into the buildinghen it was full of the gas
when [he] was actually asking to not to dm”sDkt. No. 92-1 at 96-97, and prevented Mr.
Kadamovas from closing his ventilation syfstwhen gas and smoke are presé&ht.Mr. Sample
asserts that neither SCU inmates or staff have access to the SCU ventilation system and are unable
to manipulate the SCU ventilation system. Dkb. B9-1 at 1. Only BOPdglilities staff have the

ability to close or open the ventilatiedystem between the SCU and SHUl. Mr. Sample further
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disputes that he pulled Mr. Kadaras back into the building whéinwas full of gas, but that if
he had done so, he would have begrosed to the same gas or fumés.at 1-2.

3. Clinical Director Dr. William Wilson

Dr. William Wilson is a Medical Doctor who employed by the BOP as Clinical Director
of FCC-TH. Dkt. No. 92-3. A€linical Director, Dr. Wilson facilitates the medical care and
treatment of the inmates housed at FCC-TH,iduiot involved in and has no control over the
operations of the SHU or the SCU. He has notdagay control over theesurity of or custodial
care of the inmates housed in the SHU or SGi¢. also has no decision-making authority over
the SHU or SCU, nor the ability to restrictaontrol the introduction of contraband in the SHU,
the frequency with which fires occurred in thdl& nor the frequency with which OC is deployed
in the SHU.

Dr. Wilson has informed the Executive Staff tetdps should be taken to ensure that Mr.
Kadamovas is not directly exposed to smoke andigasthat OC spray is not used directly on
Mr. Kadamovas).ld. 1 6. Itis Dr. Wilson’s understandinggthstaff are taking those steps to the
extent possible. Dr. Wilson has no informatioattklr. Kadamovas is being exposed to levels of
smoke or gas that are triggering an “asthma dttackespiratory distress. It is Dr. Wilson’s
medical opinion that Mr. Kadamovass not exhibited anghysical signs of an asthma attack or
respiratory distress when evaluated bydioal staff at any point in time.

Il Discussion

Mr. Kadamovas alleges that the defendanteevaliberately indifference to his serious
medical needs of asthma and breathing problems under the Eighth Amendment. Mr. Kadamovas
argues that the defendants should have done tmgn@tect him from exposure to OC spray and

smoke. SeeDkt. No. 96 at 3-5. Specifically, form&/arden Caraway should have implemented
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a policy or recommendation at FCC-TH that woliéve required prison offials in contact with
Mr. Kadamovas to pull him out of his tbkefore chemical agents were us8deDkt. No. 92-1 at
88. Further, Former Warden Caraway faileditoplement some policyhat [would] prevent
inmates to pass[] and receiv[e] contrabandd’ at 88. The FCC Terrdaute, Indiana, A&O
Handbook provided that inmates “have the rigtgdte, clean and healthy environment including
smoke-free living area.’ld. at 88. Former Warden Danielsléal to ensure that Mr. Kadamovas
had “safe, clean and healthy environmémcluding smoke-free living areald. at 92-9. Warden
Krueger also failed to ensure that Mr. Kadansoliad a safe, clean and healthy environm8ee

id. at 94. Mr. Kadamovas argues that Dr. Wilsbould have permitted him to see a pulmonologist
sooner. Dkt. No. 92-1 at 101.

The defendants seek summary judgment oligihth Amendment claims against them.
Dkt. No. 92. The defendants first argue thay claims accruing before January 14, 2014, are
time-barred. Dkt. No. 93 at 18-19. Next, ttefendants argue they were not deliberately
indifferent because Mr. Kadamowases not suffer from a serious medical need and the defendants
were not deliberately indifferetd his medical condition. Rathéhe defendants assert that they
have actively taken steps to ersir. Kadamovas’ exposure to smoke or OC spray is limited.
Finally, the defendants argue thee entitled to qualified immunity.

In response, Mr. Kadamovasgues his claims are notnie-barred, he suffers from a
serious medical condition, and thiie defendants (except for MBayless) were deliberately
indifferent and are not entitled toajified immunity. Dkt. No. 96.

In reply, the defendants notatiMr. Kadamovas has not dispdithe statement of material
facts they presented. Dkt. No. 99 at 2. Thienldants also argue thilr. Kadamovas’ “facts”

are merely his opinions and are insufficienpteclude summary judgment in their favor.
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A. Statute of Limitations

The defendants argue that any claims accruing before January 14, 2014, are time-barred.
Dkt. No. 93 at 18-19. The defendants assert“thhts claim is that the Defendants caused him
to be exposed to second-hand smoke andegaseen 2012 and February 1, 2015, it is barred by
the Indiana two-year statute of limitationdd. at 18 (citingWilson v. Garcia471 U.S. 261, 280
(1985)). The defendants assert, however, tHatrf's made after his adnistrative remedy was
submitted on January 14, 2014, were tolled while it was being proceddedt”19. In response,
Mr. Kadamovas argues his claims are not time-barred because his action does not accrue until his
administrative grievance is exhausted.

The statute of limitations inBivensclaim is the same as thar a claim brought pursuant
to 42 U.S.C. § 1983See Lewellen v. Morelg75 F.2d 118, 119 (7th Cir. 1988jeneman v. City
of Chicagg 864 F.2d 463, 469 (7th Cir. 1988). In these cd$ederal courts apply the statute of
limitations governing personaljury actions in the state \ehe the injury took place.'Serino v.
Hensley 735 F.3d 588, 590 (7th Cir. 2013). “In Indiasach claims must be brought within two
years.” SeeRichards v. Mitcheff696 F.3d 635, 637 (7th Cir. 2012); Ind. Code 8§ 34-11-2-4. “But
federal law determines when that statute begins to r@efing 735 F.3d at 590.Bivensand
§ 1983 claims “accrue when the plaintiff knows or sbdulow that his or her constitutional rights
have been violated.'Savory v. Lyons469 F.3d 667, 672 (7th Cir. 2006). The Court conducts a
two-part inquiry to determine when this standmrdnet: “First, a court must identify the injury.
Next, it must determine the date on which ghaintiff could have suedor that injury.” Id.
However, an Eighth Amendment violation arising ol defendant’s delilbate indifference to a

prisoner’'s medical needs can be a continuingatimh and can accrue for as long as a defendant
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knows about a prisoner’s seriousdigal condition, has the power poovide treatment, and yet
withholds treatmentHeard v. Sheahar253 F.3d 316, 318-20 (7th Cir. 2001).

In this case, the complaint was filed on kelyy 1, 2017. However, the complaint alleges
an Eighth Amendment violation arising out of thefendants’ alleged deliberate indifference to
Mr. Kadamovas’ medical needs over the courssevkral years. However, the question would

turn on whether the defendants knew about Mdataovas’ “serious” medical condition, had the
power to provide treatmerand withheld treatmentld. Resolution of the statute of limitations
guestion requires analysis of Mr. Kadamovas’ constitutional claims and whether treatment was
“withheld.”

At this juncture, neither party has providety driefing addressing this issue. Because the
issues in this case can be resdlwon other grounds, the interest of judicial economy, the Court
will bypass the question of statute of limitation aaldiress the merits of Mr. Kadamovas’ claims.
See Klebanowski v. Sheahd&#%0 F.3d 633, 639 (7th Cir. 2008We may affirm summary
judgment on any basis supported in the reddadmes v. Vill. of Hoffman Estatesl1 F.3d 673,
681 (7th Cir. 2007)(“Like the district court, welMbypass the statute offiitations questions and
consider the merits of Klebanowski’saohs against the individual defendants.”).

B. Eighth Amendment Deliberate Indifference Standard

At all times relevant to MiKadamovas’ claims, he was ansicted inmate. Accordingly,
his treatment and the conditioakhis confinement are evaludtender standards established by
the Eighth Amendment’s prosctipn against the imposition efuel and unusual punishmei@ee
Helling v. McKinney 509 U.S. 25, 31 (1993) (“It is unghsted that the treatment a prisoner

receives in prison and the condiis under which he is confined are subject to scrutiny under the

Eighth Amendment.”). Pursuant to the Eighth Acent, prison officials have a duty to provide
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humane conditions of confinement, meaning, thegtrtake reasonable meass to guarantee the
safety of the inmates and enstinat they receive adequate food, clothing, shelter, and medical
care.Farmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 834 (1994). Toepmil on an Eighth Amendment
deliberate indifference medical claim, a plaintifist demonstrate two elements: (1) he suffered
from an objectively serious medical conditiomda(2) the defendant kneabout the plaintiff's
condition and the substantiagk of harm it posed, butisregarded that riskid. at 837;Pittman

ex rel. Hamilton v. County of Madison, |IF46 F.3d 766, 775 (7th Cir. 2014). A successful § 1983
plaintiff must also establish not grthat a state actor violated luignstitutional rigks, but that the
violation caused the pldiff injury or damagesRoe v. Elyea631 F.3d 843, 846 (7th Cir. 2011)
(citation omitted).

“[Clonduct is deliberately indiffieent when the official haacted in an intentional or
criminally reckless manner.g., the defendant must have knowattthe plaintiff was at serious
risk of being harmed [and] decided not to ahything to prevent that harm from occurring even
though he could have easily done sd@bard v. Freeman394 F.3d 469, 478 (7th Cir. 2005)
(internal citations and quotations omitted).

The Seventh Circuit has held that nondical personnel who review an inmate’s
grievances and verify with memdil officials that the inmate was receiving treatment are not
deliberately indifferentSee Hayes v. Snydé&46 F.3d 516, 526-27 (7th Cir. 2008) (cit@geeno
v. Daley 414 F.3d 645, 655-56 (7th Cir. 2005)). Thau@ further explained, “[i]f a prisoner is
under the care of medical expertsa non-medical prison officialill generally bejustified in
believing that the prisoner is in capable handdd’ at 527 (quotingspruill v. Gillis, 372 F.3d

218, 236 (3d Cir. 2004)). “The policy supportitig presumption that non-medical officials are
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entitled to defer to the professional judgmenttd facility’s medical officials on questions of
prisoners’ medical care is a sound onkl’

“To infer deliberate indifference on the m%f a physician’s treatment decision, the
decision must be so far afield atcepted professional standardeasaise the inference that it
was not actually based on a medical judgmehltdtfleet v. Webster39 F.3d 392, 396 (7th Cir.
2006);see Plummer v. Wexford Health Sources, B@9 Fed. Appx. 861, 2015 WL 4461297, *2
(7th Cir. 2015) (holding that defdant doctors were not deliberately indifferent because there was
“no evidence suggesting that the defendantedaib exercise medical judgment or responded
inappropriately to [the plaintiff's] ailments”):Under the Eighth Amendment, [a plaintiff] is not
entitled to demand specific care. [Hg]not entitled to the best cgvessible. [He] is entitled to
reasonable measures to meet a substaigikaof serious harm to [him]."Forbes v. Edgar112
F.3d 262, 267 (7th Cir. 1997)“A medical professional is etied to deference in treatment
decisions unless no minimally competent pesional would have [recommended the same] under
those circumstancesPyles v. Fahim771 F.3d 403, 409 (7th Cir. 2014)Disagreement between
a prisoner and his doctor, oreavbetween two medical professitmabout the proper course of
treatment generally is insufficient, by itseif, establish an Eighth Amendment violationld.
(internal citation omitted).

C. Objectively Serious Medical Need

Mr. Kadamovas asserts that his asshis a “serious” medical nee&eeDkt. No. 96 al.

In support, he states that Imas been diagnosed with asthnteas been prescribed various
medications for his asthma, and has a standingaaledote that he is to avoid exposure to OC
spray. He also testifies that his reactiorewlexposed to smoke or gas is “extremiel” at 2-3.

The defendants disagree, arguing that althoughaakgiioviders have prescribed medication and
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diagnosed him with “mild, persistent asthniesed on his subjective word, Mr. Kadamovas has
never exhibited signs of an asthma attackempiratory distress. Additionally, there are no
objective medical signs through pulmopdunction testing, CT scaner chest x-rays that show
that Mr. Kadamovas suffers from asthn&eeDkt. No. 93 at 21-22.

An objectively serious medicaleed is “one that has bediagnosed by a physician as
mandating treatment or one that is so obviousedhah a lay person would perceive the need for
a doctor’s attention.’'Hayes v. Snydeb46 F.3d 516, 522 (7th Cir. 200@)ternal quotations and
citations omitted). A medical condition that sag pain can be serious without being life-
threateningArnett v. Webste658 F.3d 742, 753 (7th Cir. 2011gwis v. McLean864 F.3d 556,
563 (7th Cir. 2017) (finding muscle spasms accbapanying back pain objectively serious), but
“this is not to say, however, that every ache and pain or medically recognized condition involving
some discomfort can support an Eighth Amendment clat&utierrez 111 F.3d at 1372. As the
Seventh Circuit explained,

Deliberately [] ignor[ing] a request for medi assistance has lobgen held to be

a form of cruel and unusual punishment, butghgovided that thillness or injury

for which assistance is sought is sufficierggrious or painful to make the refusal

of assistance uncivilized. Aigon’s medical staff that rees to dispense bromides

for the sniffles or minor aches and paorsa tiny scratch or a mild headache or

minor fatigue--the sorts of ailmentsrfahich many people who are not in prison

do not seek medical attention--does nottbyefusal violate the Constitution. The

Constitution is not a charter of protection for hypochondriacs. But the fact that a

condition does not produceligective” symptoms does nentitle the medical staff

to ignore it. ... Pain, fatigue, and othembgective, nonverifiable complaints are in

some cases the only symptoms of a serious medical condition.

Cooper v. Case\p7 F.3d 914, 916-17 (7th Cir. 1996) (interaightions omitted). Of relevance is
the state of mind of the prison offids — even if an injury may latéurn out to not be serious, if

the injuriesappear to be serious, prompt medicdtention must be providedavis v. Jones936

F.2d 971, 972 (7th Cir. 1991).
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Relevantly, on two prior occasions, the Seventh Circuit has held that mild asthma and
breathing problems from exposure to second-rsandke were not objectively serious medical
needs. IHenderson v. Sheahat96 F.3d 839, 846 (7th Cir. 1999)etBeventh Circuit held that
breathing problems, chest pains, dizziness, gimmoklems, headaches, and a loss of energy as a
result of exposure to second-hand smoke was nobgattively serious jary or medical need
that amounts to a denial of “the minimal civiizeneasure of life’s necesisis.” Similarly, in
Oliver v. Deen77 F.3d 156 (7th Cir. 1996),dlSeventh Circuit held that a mild case of asthma,
which was exacerbated by second-hand tobacco sndakeot rise to the level of seriousness
sufficient to support a claim for relief.

Mr. Kadamovas attempts tostinguish his condition frorllendersorandOliver, arguing
that Mr. Henderson was not diagnosed with a gadiondition or ailmenbrought about by his
exposure to second-hand smoke and®iver’s asthma was not sorgrlis as to require a separate
cell from nonsmokers.SeeDkt. No. 96 at 8-9. The Court does not find these differences
compelling. InOliver, Mr. Oliver was asthmatic and showed sign of distress when exposed to
smoke. Oliver, 77 F.3d at 160. However, the Seventh Circuit found that:

Mr. Oliver's medical records show that rexeived considerable medical attention

for asthma concerns, as well as for oth@ments. He neverequired outside

hospitalization, and he even missed a Bgpointments he had with the medical

staff regarding his asthmaniformly, the medical records evaluate his asthma as

only a mild case. He was given medicationl @an inhaler. He does not dispute that

the medication and the inhaler were agar medical response to his condition.

Id. Mr. Oliver requested that e housed with a nonsmoker, but the Seventh Circuit rejected his
claim, arguing that “the Eighth Amendmentlbads cruel and unusual punishments; it does not
require the most intelligent, progressive, humaar efficacious prison administration.” Mr.

Oliver’'s complaint seeks to involugs in the sort of ‘micromanagement’ of a state prison that we

deplored inAndersor’ 1d. at 161 (citingAnderson v. Romey@2 F.3d 518 (7th Cir. 1995)).
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The Court findliver to be instructive. Lik®liver, Mr. Kadamovas has been diagnosed
with mild, persistent asthma and prescribed letsaand various other medications. However, Mr.
Kadamovas has never been shown to havemastiirough objective mezhl testing such as
through pulmonary function testing, chest x-ray,CT scans, nor has Mr. Kadamovas ever
exhibited any signs of asthmaaatk or respiratory distress wheeen by USP-TH medical staff.
Nor does Mr. Kadamovas allege that he has ever suffered an asthma attack.

The only evidence of Mr. Kadamovas’ conditimom exposure from gas or smoke is his
testimony that he has breathing problems,rdea, vomiting, crying, sezing, psychological
anguish, headache, fear of death, high blood presaacelerated heartbeat, respiratory stress,
wheezing, chest pains, and excessive sweating. tH&ge are, objectivelgpeaking, relatively
minor. See Hendersqri96 F.3d at 846 (“the injuries of velhh Henderson complains--breathing
problems, chest pains, dizziness, sinus probleaejaches and a loss of energy--are, objectively
speaking, relatively minor”)zayton v. McCoy593 F.3d 610, 921 (7th Cir. 2010) (“Vomiting, in
and of itself, is not an uncommoesult of being mildly ill, andabsent other circumstances (e.qg.,
vomiting continuously for a long ped of time, having blood imne’s vomit, or the like), does
not amount to an objectively seriousdigal condition.”). Moreover, as @liver, Mr. Kadamovas
fails to show “there is a causal relationship kesw the smoke and the distress [he] suffered.”
Oliver, 77 F.3d at 160. Additionally, symptomsdikigh blood pressure, accelerated heartbeat,
and excessive sweating is likely a consequefgsychological anguish Mr. Kadamovas brought
upon himself while thinking about smoke and g&sr example, in one medical encounter, Mr.
Kadamovas was calm and writing in his cell wite® nurse first arrivetdut became agitated and

anxious when discussing the smol8eeDkt. No. 92-8 at 8.
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Although exposure to unwanted OC spray amoke fumes is generally undesired, no
reasonable jury would find that Mr. Kadamevasthma and breathing problems were an
“objectively serious” medical need. Accordingly, summary judgment for the defendants is
warranted on this ground.

Even if the Court were to assume, for pugsosf argument only, that Mr. Kadamovas has
indeed established an objectively serious medieal, Mr. Kadamovas still needs to demonstrate
that defendants were deliberataidifferent to that need, whicheéxplained in more detail below.

D. Claim against Former Warden John Caraway

Mr. Kadamovas argues that former Wardenma@ay was deliberatelyndifferent to his
serious medical needs by failing to implemepbhcy or recommendation at FCC-TH that would
have required prison officials in contact whdr. Kadamovas to pull him out of his cell before
chemical agents were used, and that wouddgmt inmates from passiegntraband and starting
fires. SeeDkt. No. 59 at 4-5.

First, as explained above $ection 111(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tbgdg serious medical need. Moreover, Mr.
Kadamovas has failed to show that Warden ®Wayadisregarded the risk to Mr. Kadamovas’
health. Rather, the evidence reflects that WiarG@araway ensured that his staff took steps to
prevent SHU inmates from starting fires andkmg, including by conducting rounds, regularly
conducting cell searches and “shake-downs” of muusells, and pat seardgj inmates to ensure
that the inmates did not haventraband, including contraband thmay be used to start fires.
Warden Caraway also was aware that inmateswdre found to have violated the prison’s code
of conduct (including the possession of contrabaindtarting fires) would receive an Incident

Report and appropriate discipliyasteps would be taken. Ward€araway was also aware that
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SHU inmates were placed on limited commissaiyileges and are not permitted to make certain
purchases, such as batteries, which can be tosigphite fires. Additionally, Warden Caraway
took steps to ensure that M@adamovas had limited exposureQ& spray, inalding having the
air filters between the SHU and the SCU changererfrequently than recommended in order to
remove the possibility of residual particles.

Finally, Warden Caraway reviewed Mr. Kawavas' medical records and confirmed he
was receiving treatment and was therefore entitleelyoon professional judgment of the facility’s
medical staff.See Hayes46 F.3d at 526-27.

In short, the evidence reflects that War@araway took constitutionally adequate steps to
ensure that Mr. Kadamovas recalappropriate medical care awds limited in his exposure to
smoke and OC gas. Accordingly, summarggment for Warden Caraway is warranted.

E. Claim against Former Warden Charles A. Daniels

Mr. Kadamovas argues that former WardemiBks was deliberatelindifferent to his
serious medical needs by failing to prevent inmtatas starting fires by riceffectively enforcing
policies and procedures whiglould prevent such actSeeDkt. No. 59 at 5.

First, as explained above $ection 111(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tbgdg serious medical need. Moreover, Mr.
Kadamovas has failed to show that Warden Dadislegarded the risk to Mr. Kadamovas’ health.
Rather, the evidence reflects that Warden Daeiedsired that his staff took steps to prevent SHU
inmates from starting fires and smoking, incghgdby conducting roundsegularly conducting
cell searches and “shake-downs” of housing calgl pat searching inmatéo ensure that the
inmates did not have contrabamaluding contraband thahay be used to start fires. Warden

Daniels also was aware that ineswho were found to have viagtthe prison’s code of conduct
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(including the possession of caalband or starting fires) wouldceive an Incident Report and
appropriate disciplinary steps wdube taken. Warden Daniels svalso aware that SHU inmates
were placed on limited commissary privileges and are not permitted to make certain purchases,
such as batteries, which can bediso ignite fires. Additionally, WarderDaniels took steps to
ensure that Mr. Kadamovas had limited expogar©C spray, that every effort was made to
mitigate his exposure to OC spray when it was uisede SHU, that the vents between the SHU
and SCU are closed off when OC spray is used,that the air filters in those units are changed
more frequently than recommendedéduce any residual contamination.

Furthermore, Warden Daniels reviewed Madamovas’ medical records and confirmed
he was receiving treatment and was therefotdlesh to rely on profssional judgment of the
facility’s medical staff. See Hayes46 F.3d at 526-27.

In short, the evidence reflacthat Warden Daniels took caditistionally adequate steps to
ensure that Mr. Kadamovas recal\appropriate medical care awds limited in his exposure to
smoke and OC gas. Accordingly, summarggment for Warden Daels is warranted.

F. Claim against Warden Jeffrey E. Krueger

Mr. Kadamovas argues that Warden Krueges Waliberately indifferent to his serious
medical needs by failing to prewenmates from starting fires by netfectively enforcing policies
and procedures which would prevent such aStseDkt. No. 59 at 6-7.

First, as explained above $ection 111(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tbgdg serious medical need. Moreover, Mr.
Kadamovas has failed to show that Warden Kewedisregarded the risk to Mr. Kadamovas’
health. Rather, the evidence reflects that Waldereger ensured that his staff took steps to

prevent SHU inmates from starting fires and&mg, including by conducting rounds, regularly
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conducting cell searches and “shake-downs” of muusells, and pat seardgj inmates to ensure

that the inmates did not haventraband, including contraband thmay be used to start fires.
Warden Krueger also was awarattinmates who were found tousaviolated the prison’s code

of conduct (including the possession of contrabaindtarting fires) would receive an Incident
Report and appropriate discipligasteps would be taken. Wardnueger was also aware that
SHU inmates were placed on limited commissary privileges and were not permitted to make
certain purchases, such as batteries, which camsééd to ignite fires. Additionally, Warden
Krueger is aware of steps thas staff have taken to limit arkposure Mr. Kadamovas may have
from smoke or gas coming from the SHU, inchgimoving Mr. Kadamovas to an upper-tier cell;
attempting to remove Mr. Kadamovas from his cell when OC spray fumes were detected in the
SCU; shutting off or reversing vefibw when OC spray is usad the SHU; and changing the air
filters between the two units more frequentlgirths required by the minimum standards.

Furthermore, Warden Krueger reviewed Madamovas’ medical records and confirmed
he was receiving treatment and was therefotdlesh to rely on profssional judgment of the
facility’s medical staff. See Hayes46 F.3d at 526-27.

In short, the evidence reflects that War#@neger took constitutionally adequate steps to
ensure that Mr. Kadamovas recal\appropriate medical care awds limited in his exposure to
smoke and OC gas. Accordingly, summarggment for Warden Kieger is warranted.

G. Claim against Former Unit Manager Melissa Bayless

Mr. Kadamovas argues that former Unit hger Melissa Bayless was deliberately
indifferent to his serious medicakeds by failing to protect hifrom exposure to smoke and OC

spray. SeeDkt. No. 59 at 6-7.
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First, as explained above $ection 11I(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tbgdg serious medical need. Moreover, Mr.
Kadamovas has failed to show that Unit MgeaBayless was personally involved in any
constitutional deprivation:Individual liability under § 1983..requires personal involvement in
the alleged constituinal deprivation.” Colbert v. City of Chicago851 F.3d 649, 657 (7th Cir.
2017) (internal quotation omitted) (citiMgolf-Lillie v. Sonquist699 F.2d 864, 869 (7th Cir. 1983)
(“Section 1983 creates a causeofion based on personal liabilayd predicated upon fault. An
individual cannot be held liable a § 1983 action unless he causeganticipated in an alleged
constitutional deprivation.... A caal connection, or an affirative link, between the misconduct
complained of and the official sued is necegsy. Mr. Kadamovas alleges that Ms. Bayless
failed to do more to protect him from expostwesmoke and OC spray from the SHU, but Ms.
Baylesshad no day-to-day control ovite security of or custodial care of the inmates housed in
the SHU and had no decision-making authority dtaer SHU. She did not have the ability to
restrict or control the contraband in the SHL& fitequency with which fires occurred in the SHU,
nor the frequency with whitOC spray was deployed.

In his reply, Mr. Kadamovas did not refulds. Bayless’ contention that she was not
personally involved in the alleged vation of his constitutional rights.SeeDkt. No. 96.
Accordingly, summary judgment for Ms. Bayless is warranted.

H. Claim against Former Unit Manager Micheal V. Sample

Mr. Kadamovas argues that former Unit Mgaa Micheal V. Sample was deliberately
indifferent to his serious medicakeds by failing to protect hifrom exposure to smoke and OC
spray. SeeDkt. No. 59 at 7. Mr. Sample also allefepulled Mr. Kadamovas “into the building

when it was full of the gas when [he] was actualiking to not to do so,” Dkt. No. 92-1 at 96-97,
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and prevented Mr. Kadamovas from closing hiatNation system duringxposure to gas and
smoke. Id.

First, as explained above $ection 11I(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tbgdg serious medical need. Moreover, Mr.
Kadamovas has failed to show that Unit Mgera Sample was personally involved in any
constitutional deprivation:Individual liability under § 1983..requires personal involvement in
the alleged constituinal deprivation.” Colbert 851 F.3d at 657 (internal quotation omitted)
(citing Wolf-Lillie, 699 F.2d at 869 (“Section 1983 createsause of action based on personal
liability and predicated upon fduAn individual cannot be he liable in a § 1983 action unless
he caused or participated in an alleged ttut®nal deprivation.... Acausal connection, or an
affirmative link, between the misconduct complainedrmd the official sued is necessary.”)). Mr.
Kadamovas alleges thislr. Samplefailed to do more to protebim from exposure to smoke and
OC spray from the SHU, bivtr. Sample had no day-to-day contoekr the security of or custodial
care of the inmates housed in the SHU and hadecsion-making authority over the SHU. He
did not have the ability to resttior control the contraband inetlsHU, the frequency with which
fires occurred in the SHU, nor the frequemath which OC spray was deployed. Although Mr.
Sample allegedly prevented Mr. Kadamovas fadosing his ventilation system during exposure
to gas and smoke, SCU inmates and staff ddhaeé access to the SGA@ntilation system and
are unable to manipulate tB€U ventilation system.

Even if Mr. Sample was personally involvedy. Kadamovas fails to show Mr. Sample
disregarded the risk to Mr. Kadamovas’ healt¥hen Mr. Kadamovas complained about exposure
to smoke and gas, Mr. Sample moved him to the upper tier of the SCU in an effort to reduce the

potential exposure. Additionally, although Méadamovas identifies one instance where Mr.
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Sample allegedly pulled Mr. Kadamovas “into thelding when it was full of the gas when [he]
was actually asking to not to do so,” Dkt. No. 92-1 at 96-97, no reasonable jury would find that
Mr. Kadamovas was injured from this isolatedident or that Mr.Sample was deliberately
indifferent to Mr. Kadamovas’ health where Mdample would have been exposed to the same
gas or fumes if that level of sike or fumes was so dangero@ee Antonelli v. Sheaha8il F.3d
1422, 1427 (7th Cir. 1996) (holding that to fideliberate indifference defendant must have
committed an act so dangerous thatkmewledge of the risk can be inferre@pka v. Bobbitt
862 F.2d 646, 650 (7th Cir. 1988) (finding that tow deliberate indifference, a plaintiff is
required to prove that the prisofficial’s action was deliberate oeckless in the criminal sense).
Accordingly, summary judgment for Mr. Sample is warranted.

l. Claim against Clinical Director Dr. William E. Wilson

Mr. Kadamovas argues that Clinical DirectDr. William E. Wilson was deliberately
indifferent to his seriousiedical needs by denying his legitimeggquests for procedures to protect
him from the harm of tear gas and smol&eeDkt. No. 59 at 7-8. Iris deposition, he argued
that Dr. Wilson should have permitted him to agailmonologist sooner. Dkt. No. 92-1 at 101.

First, as explained above $ection I11(C), the Cort has determined that Mr. Kadamovas’
asthma and breathing problems were not an tigyg serious medical need. Additionally, Mr.
Kadamovas fails to show that Dr. Wilson wadilwkrately indifferent tohis medical needs.
Viewing the evidence in the light most favoratdévir. Kadamovas, MKadamovas was regularly
seen in a prompt manner by medisi@ff regarding his complaint$ breathing problems. Despite
no objective evidence supporting a diagnosis tfrag, including through CT scan and chest x-
ray, Mr. Kadamovas was providedbuterol inhalers and variousiedications and a note was

placed in his file to restridhe use of chemical gas on himilthough Dr. Wilson requested a
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consult with an outside pulmonologist in Noveer 2014, the URC denied that request.
Ultimately, Mr. Kadamovas was seen by an aégulmonologist in May 2016, but Dr. Bhuptani
found no obstruction, lack of tnchodilator response, no restriction and no air trapping in Mr.
Kadamovas’ lungs through a puwmary function testin 2017, Dr. Wilson spoke with Executive
Staff about trying to ensure that exhaust fame used in the SHU before pepper gas is
administered.

The undisputed record reflects that Mr. Kautaras received exteine medical care from
Dr. Wilson and the medical staff. The defemida expert, Dr. Buckley, opined that Mr.
Kadamovas’ care was “optimal,” “medically appropriate[,] and within the standard of care.” DKkt.
No. 92-10.

Although Mr. Kadamovas asserts that Dr. Wilsaappropriately delayed in allowing him
to see an outside pulmonologist, the evidenfleats that Dr. Wilson’s request in 2014 for Mr.
Kadamovas to see an outside pulmonologist denied by the URC, and Mr. Kadamovas does
not allege or set forth any evidence that Dilsdh had the authority to override that denial.
Moreover, Mr. Kadamovas fails gsliow how he was injured in adglay in seeing a pulmonologist
where Dr. Bhuptani provided no differ@in diagnosis or treatment.

Prison doctors who try reasonabthough imperfect, approachesaddress an inmate’s
symptoms, and eventually resolve the symmpdo not violate the Eighth Amendment by
omitting a different, possibly better approacBee Proctor v. Sop@63 F.3d 563, 567-68 (7th
Cir. 2017) (affirming entry of summary judgment fisison’s doctors who, despite failing to order
colonoscopy or endoscopy to diagnose inmatedominal pain, reasonably investigated inmate’s
pain in other waysW\orfleet 439 F.3d at 396 (reversing distratturt’s refusal to enter judgment

in favor of prison doctor where, despite a polysisuperior alternative treatment, doctor’s
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treatment of inmate was reasonable). As &xpld above, Mr. Kadamovas “is not entitled to
demand specific care. [He] is not entitled to thst lsare possible. [He] is entitled to reasonable
measures to meet a substantial risk of serious harm to [hofBes 112 F.3d at 267.

Accordingly, summary judgmeimor Dr. Wilson is warranted.

J. Qualified Immunity

The defendants argue that to the extent Mddtaovas’ constitutional rights were violated
or that the defendants persomadicted with deliberate indiffenee towards him, they are all
entitled to qualified immunity.

Qualified immunity protects government offigdirom liability for civil damages unless
their conduct violates “elarly established statutoor constitutional rightef which a reasonable
person would have known.Pearson v. Callahgrb55 U.S. 223, 231 (200%¢ee also Burritt v.
Ditlefsen 807 F.3d 239, 249 (7th Cir. 2015). Analysighad qualified immuity defense requires
a consideration of: (1) whether the plaintiffenstitutional rights were violated and (2) whether
the right clearly estdished at the timeSaucier v. Katz533 U.S. 194, 201-02 (2001).

For the reasons explained abovegréhwas no constitutional violatiosee Jackson v.
Parker, 627 F.3d 634, 635 (7th Cir. 201@uarez v. Town of Ogden Dun&81 F.3d 591, 595
(7th Cir. 2009), so a qualified immunity defense is not necesBagha v. Vill. of Oak Brogk
650 F.3d 1053, 1057-58 (7th Cir. 2011).

IV.  Conclusion

It has been explained that “summary judgtreerves as the ultimate screen to weed out
truly insubstantial lawsuits prior to trial.Crawford-El v. Britton 118 S. Ct. 1584, 1598 (1998).
This is a vital role in the management of ¢odwockets, in the delivergf justice to individual

litigants, and in meeting society’s expectationatth system of justice operates effectively.
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Indeed, “it is a gratuitous crueltg parties and their withessisput them through the emotional
ordeal of a trial when the outcome is foreanéa,” and in such cases, summary judgment is
appropriate.Mason v. Continental lllinois Nat'l Bank04 F.2d 361, 367 (7th Cir. 1983).

Mr. Kadamovas has not identified a genuine issumaterial fact as to his claims in this
case and the defendants are entitled to judgmeatnaatter of law. Therefore, the defendants’
motion for summary judgment, Dkt. No. 92 gianted.

Judgment consistent with this Entry shall now issue.

IT 1S SO ORDERED. Z
Date: 12/6/18 W isan D K arien
Hon. William T. Lawrence, Senior Judge
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